RECEIVED

Mar 08 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Berkeley County
Honorable Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2021-000146

THE STATE,

Petitioner,

vs.

RANDY WRIGHT,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

O.T. Wallace Building
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON CERTIORARI

Did the Court of Appeals err by reversing Wright's conviction due solely to the manner in which jury polling was conducted when it failed to recognize: (1) the jury polling actually conducted was sufficient to ensure the jury's verdict was a unanimous one and was fully consistent with the "practice as it has heretofore existed" in South Carolina; (2) its decision violated the clearly-defined limits of our state constitution that prevent new rules of procedure from being created and articulated solely by the issuance of published appellate decisions; (3) the new procedural rule it adopted—even if somehow valid—could not properly be applied retroactively; and (4) Wright suffered no prejudice as a result of the method by which jury polling was conducted since nothing suggested the jury's verdict was anything other than unanimous?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

In August of 2015, Respondent Randy Wright was arrested—along with two of his adult sons—following an investigation into a brutal attack perpetrated in the driveway of the victim’s home. In March of 2016, the Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted Wright for one count of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. On August 30, 2017, a jury trial was commenced in the Berkeley County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable Maite Murphy, circuit court judge, presiding. At the conclusion of the two-day trial, the jury convicted Wright as indicted. Following the verdict, the trial judge sentenced Wright to a fifteen-year term of imprisonment and suspended that sentence to a ten-year term of imprisonment to be followed by five years of probation.¹ Wright then filed and perfected an appeal.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals—following oral argument—unanimously reversed Wright’s conviction in a published opinion.² State v. Wright, 432 S.C. 365, 852 S.E.2d 468 (Ct. App. 2020). Thereafter, the State timely filed a petition for rehearing. On January 13, 2021, the Court of Appeals denied the State’s petition.

Factual History

On the evening of August 8, 2015, Dale Williams and his wife were watching television together inside their home located in Moncks Corner, South Carolina, when their dog began to

¹ Subsequent to Wright’s trial, Wright’s sons entered guilty pleas to the lesser-included offense of first-degree assault and battery in connection to the incident, and each of the men was sentenced to a ten-year term of imprisonment that was suspended to a four-year term of imprisonment to be followed by two years of probation. Records for Adam Shane Wright and Shawn Lee Wright, Berkeley County Ninth Judicial Circuit Public Index, <https://publicindex.sccourts.org/Berkeley/PublicIndex>.

² Prior to conducting oral argument, the Court of Appeals requested the matter be certified for review by this Court pursuant to Rule 204(b) of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, but this Court rejected that request through an order dated June 16, 2020.

growl. (App’x pp. 57-58; pp. 82-83; p. 147). Because such an occurrence was very unusual, Williams got up and went outside to find out what was going on. (App’x p. 58; pp. 83-84). When he did so, Williams observed three men standing in the private driveway leading to the residence of his neighbor, Jimmy Taylor (“Victim”), and those men were gathered around another individual who was on the ground. (App’x pp. 58-60; p. 77; p. 93; pp. 139-141). Upon seeing Williams, the three men standing over the other man scurried away “in a hurry,” headed to a truck that had been parked on the side of the road just off Victim’s property, and fled from the area. (App’x pp. 60-61; pp. 69-70; p. 78; p. 159). Meanwhile, Victim, who was the man on the ground and was covered in blood, cried out for someone to call 911. (App’x p. 59; p. 85; p. 90). In response, Williams quickly asked his wife to call the police and then attempted to provide assistance to Victim until help arrived. (App’x pp. 63-64; p. 78; p. 85; p. 87; p. 172).

A short time later, paramedics arrived at the scene and rushed Victim to the hospital. (App’x pp. 65-66; pp. 73-75; p. 87; p. 172; p. 185; p. 252). At the hospital, Victim received treatment for his injuries, which were “pretty significant.” (App’x p. 329; p. 344). More specifically, Victim had multiple “severe” lacerations to his head, one of his eyes was swollen shut, his other eye was nearly swollen shut, and he had extensive bruising to his face, torso, abdomen, and back. (App’x pp. 99-100; pp. 102-103; pp. 329-330; pp. 334-338; p. 340; p. 344). Significantly, Victim’s injuries were consistent with being kicked or struck multiple times with a blunt object, and they potentially could have been life-threatening. (App’x p. 336; p. 346). Fortunately though, Victim somehow avoided suffering any internal injuries or bleeding. (App’x pp. 336-337; p. 349). However, as a result of his injuries, Victim did suffer from lasting pain along with other issues and had to receive numerous sutures and staples to close his wounds. (App’x pp. 99-100; p. 112; p. 174; pp. 180-181; p. 217; p. 338).

On that same date, Deputy Michelle Ward from the Berkeley County Sheriff's Office spoke with Victim about what had occurred while he was still at the hospital. (App'x p. 120; pp. 248-250; pp. 252-253; p. 277). During their conversation, Victim reported he was confronted and attacked in his own driveway by Wright and two of Wright's sons—Adam and Shawn—shortly after they parked their truck near his home following an incident in which a beer bottle had suddenly been thrown at his vehicle. (App'x pp. 253-254; p. 273). Victim further indicated the attack was carried out with some sort of “stick-like” weapon. (App'x p. 253).

After speaking with Victim, Deputy Ward obtained arrest warrants for Wright and his sons Adam and Shawn, and Wright was taken into custody a few days later. (App'x p. 121; p. 252; p. 256; pp. 258-259; p. 296). Once Wright had been taken into custody, Deputy Ward met with him and—upon advising him of his rights—asked him if he had been involved in any altercations on the date of the incident. (App'x pp. 122-124; pp. 259-261; p. 265). In response to the query, Wright—who had no signs of injuries at that time—flatly denied being involved in any altercations at all. (App'x p. 129; pp. 133-134; p. 265). Deputy Ward then advised Wright he had been identified by Victim as one of Victim's assailants, and Wright immediately changed his version of events and—in direct contradiction to what he had just asserted—admitted he was, in fact, involved in an altercation. (App'x p. 129; pp. 265-267). However, Wright attempted to cast blame for that altercation squarely on Victim and alleged a bottle was thrown at his truck on the date of the incident, he followed the vehicle from which it was thrown in an attempt to find out why, he confronted Victim after doing so, and he was assaulted by Victim with a club in response. (App'x p. 129; p. 133; p. 267). Beyond that, Wright claimed two of his sons—Adam and *Randy, Jr.*—were with him at that time, expressly denied Shawn was with him, and alleged Adam was the only one who struck Victim. (App'x p. 267; pp. 270-271; p. 273). Furthermore,

Wright asserted Adam only did so in an effort to get Victim off of him during the scuffle. (App'x p. 267; pp. 270-271).

Ultimately, at the conclusion of the investigation, Wright was indicted for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and he elected to proceed forward to trial. (App'x p. 12; pp. 506-507). During the course of trial, Victim recounted how he was brutally attacked by Wright and Wright's sons in his own driveway on the date of the incident, and additional testimony and evidence was presented detailing the discoveries made during the investigation into the attack. (App'x pp. 56-78; pp. 80-93; pp. 97-118; pp. 138-217; pp. 248-296; pp. 322-360; pp. 364-377). Furthermore, testimony was presented about Wright's initial complete denial of any involvement in any altercations on the date of the incident and his rapid pivot to an entirely different—and contradictory—version of events as soon as he learned his victim had been able to identify him as one of the assailants involved. (App'x pp. 265-271).

Following the presentation of that testimony and evidence, Wright decided to testify in his own defense and offered yet another account of the incident involving Victim. (App'x pp. 399-426). Specifically, through his latest account, Wright stated he was driving home with his sons Adam and *Shawn* on the date of the incident when Victim got behind his truck and began driving close to its bumper.³ (App'x pp. 406-407). Wright claimed something then hit the back of his truck, and he decided to go to Victim's house to confront Victim about it. (App'x pp. 407-408). When he did, Wright alleged Victim, whom he claimed appeared to be intoxicated, attacked him with a club, and he responded by grabbing Victim around the waist to stop the

³ Regarding why Wright might have asserted Shawn was with him at the time of the incident during his trial testimony in direct contradiction to his earlier claim of being with Randy, Jr. at that time, evidence was presented during trial establishing a hat recovered from the scene of the crime was analyzed as part of the investigation into the assault and Shawn was identified as the major contributor to the DNA profile developed from it. (App'x pp. 176-177; pp. 218-220; pp. 228-229; pp. 319-321; p. 368; pp. 371-372).

assault. (App’x pp. 408-409; p. 418). After that, Wright claimed Victim began choking him, and his sons responded by trying to pull Victim off of him. (App’x pp. 409-410). Wright stated they all then fell to the ground, and that fall stopped the altercation, which ended with him having never struck Victim a single time. (App’x p. 410). However, Wright conceded his sons must necessarily have struck Victim—including with something more than their fists—at some point during the “brawl” based on Victim’s injuries. (App’x p. 410; p. 417; pp. 425-426).

At the conclusion of the evidentiary phase of trial, the trial judge instructed the jury on the applicable law. (App’x pp. 470-488). In doing so, the trial judge specifically instructed the jurors their verdict must be a unanimous one and expressly explained: “[A]ll 12 of you must agree on the verdict.”⁴ (App’x p. 487). Following the presentation of those unmistakable instructions, the jurors began their deliberations. (App’x p. 489).

Thereafter, just under an hour and a half later, the jurors reached a verdict.⁵ (App’x p. 489; p. 491). Upon reaching a verdict, the jurors returned to the courtroom, and their verdict was announced as follows: “As to the charge of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, we, the jury, unanimously find [Wright] guilty.” (App’x p. 492). The jurors were then swiftly asked to individually raise their right hands if the verdict announced was their verdict, and all of the jurors did so in response. (App’x pp. 492-493). At that point, the trial judge—having received confirmation of the verdict from each juror—sent the jurors back to the jury room and advised them they would be released from their service momentarily. (App’x p. 492).

⁴ Throughout the trial, the trial judge also made clear to the jurors they were required to accept and apply the law exactly as instructed. (App’x pp. 32-33; pp. 470-471).

⁵ More specifically, the jurors began their deliberations at 4:58 p.m. and returned to the courtroom with their verdict at 6:26 p.m., which meant the length of their deliberations was eighty-eight minutes in total. (App’x pp. 488-489; p. 491).

Once the jurors had exited the courtroom, defense counsel acknowledged the jurors had been “poll[ed]” by being asked to raise their hands, which he conceded led to all the jurors raising their hands in response. (App’x p. 493). However, defense counsel indicated there was a “group aspect” to that particular method of “polling” and requested—as part of his “standard procedure—for the jurors to be polled by “calling out each specific juror.” (App’x pp. 492-493). Ultimately though, the trial judge denied that request due to the fact the jurors had already been asked to confirm the verdict after it was announced and the jurors all raised their hands *individually* in response.⁶ (App’x p. 493).

Subsequently, Wright appealed, arguing the trial judge’s refusal to poll the jurors at defense counsel’s request constituted reversible error without any need for a showing of specific prejudice. (App’x pp. 510-525). On appeal, the Court of Appeals agreed with Wright’s argument and reversed. State v. Wright, 432 S.C. 365, 368, 852 S.E.2d 468, 470 (Ct. App. 2020). In reversing, the Court of Appeals recognized this Court’s decision in State v. Linder, 276 S.C. 304, 278 S.E.2d 335 (1981), held trial judges were required to conduct jury polling when requested to do so and further concluded that decision “*implied* each juror must be polled individually.” Id. (emphasis added). Additionally, the Court of Appeals noted other courts throughout the country had determined collective jury polling similar to the polling conducted in Wright’s case was “not the best method” of accomplishing the purpose of such polling. Id. at 369, 852 S.E.2d at 471. Then, despite recognizing the Linder decision “did not endorse a particular method of individually polling the jurors” and “provided no guidance on the mechanics of proper individual polling,” the Court of Appeals concluded the method of polling

⁶ Specifically, in denying the request, the trial judge explained: [T]he Clerk did ask them, is this your verdict, and each of the jurors raised their hands individually. They looked around and they raised their hand individually, and that’s on the record.” (App’x p. 493).

conducted by the trial judge in Wright’s case was inadequate while holding the method that must now be followed in South Carolina in order for polling to be sufficient is “each juror must be separately asked to confirm verbally on the record that the verdict announced is still his or her verdict.” Id. at 370, 852 S.E.2d at 471. Finally, after adopting a new and specific requirement as to the method by which jury polling must be conducted in our state, the Court of Appeals determined the question of whether the error it believed had occurred required reversal was a “novel” one in South Carolina, and it answered that question by finding the trial judge’s failure to conduct jury polling by what it considered to be the “best method” constituted a “reversible error per se” that was not subject to harmless error analysis.⁷ Id. at 373, 852 S.E.2d at 472.

⁷ Notwithstanding the fact the Court of Appeals itself has already sought for this Court to certify Wright’s appeal, the Court of Appeals’s acknowledgment of the “novel” nature of the issue involved constitutes a compelling basis for a grant of a writ of certiorari in Wright’s case. See Rule 242(b), SCACR (identifying the presence of “novel questions of law” as one of the expressly-delineated grounds that will be considered by this Court when deciding whether to grant a writ of certiorari).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). When reviewing a decision regarding the manner in which a criminal trial was conducted, an appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision unless it constituted a *prejudicial* abuse of discretion in light of the fact such decisions are ordinarily left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 312, 642 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2007); see State v. Heath, 232 S.C. 384, 391, 102 S.E.2d 268, 272 (1958) (“Necessarily the conduct of a trial is largely within the discretion of the presiding judge, to the end that a fair and impartial trial may be had.”). Similarly, although jury polling must be conducted when requested in South Carolina, the *method* by which such polling is carried out rests within the trial judge's discretion, and, thus, a trial judge's decision regarding how jury polling is conducted should not be reversed on appeal absent a showing of a prejudicial abuse of discretion. See State v. Singleton, 319 S.C. 312, 316, 460 S.E.2d 573, 576 (1995) (recognizing the manner of jury polling falls within the trial judge's discretion); State v. Linder, 276 S.C. 304, 309, 278 S.E.2d 335, 338 (1981) (holding “a [jury] poll must be taken” if requested). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000); see United States v. Summers, 666 F.3d 192, 197 (4th Cir. 2011) (instructing an appellate court will not find a trial judge's discretionary ruling constituted an abuse of discretion unless it was arbitrary and irrational).

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred by reversing Wright’s conviction due solely to the manner in which jury polling was conducted because it failed to recognize: (1) the jury polling actually conducted was sufficient to ensure the jury’s verdict was a unanimous one and was fully consistent with the “practice as it has heretofore existed” in South Carolina; (2) its decision violated the clearly-defined limits of our state constitution that prevent new rules of procedure from being created and articulated solely by the issuance of published appellate decisions; (3) the new procedural rule it adopted—even if somehow valid—could not properly be applied retroactively; and (4) Wright suffered no prejudice as a result of the method by which jury polling was conducted since nothing suggested the jury’s verdict was anything other than unanimous.

Through the published opinion it issued in Wright’s case, the Court of Appeals vacated the jury’s verdict, reversed Wright’s conviction, and remanded the matter for a new trial based solely on the method by which jury polling was conducted. In doing so, the Court of Appeals determined the manner by which the jurors—who were actually polled and who did, in fact, all individually express assent in the verdict announced—were polled was insufficient and not the “best method” for accomplishing the purpose of a jury poll. Then, despite recognizing no South Carolina authority has ever previously mandated jury polling must specifically be conducted in a person-by-person manner, the Court of Appeals held the trial judge reversibly erred by failing to conduct polling in precisely such a manner and, by so holding, adopted an entirely new rule of criminal procedure for jury polling in South Carolina consistent with rules that have been promulgated in jurisdictions *other than* our own. Finally, the Court of Appeals concluded the trial judge’s failure to conduct polling by the “best method” was reversible per se without any need for a showing of specific prejudice to Wright. For multiple reasons, the decision of the Court of Appeals was an erroneous one. Specifically, the Court of Appeals erred by reversing in Wright’s case because it failed to recognize: (1) the jury polling actually conducted was sufficient to ensure the jury’s verdict was a unanimous one and was fully consistent with the “practice as it has heretofore existed” in South Carolina; (2) its decision violated our state’s

clearly-defined constitutional limits that prevent new rules of procedure from being created and articulated solely by the issuance of published appellate decisions; (3) the new procedural rule it adopted—even if somehow valid—could not properly be applied retroactively; and (4) Wright suffered no prejudice as a result of the method by which jury polling was conducted since nothing suggested the jury’s verdict was not unanimous. Accordingly, the erroneous decision of the Court of Appeals needs to be reviewed and corrected by this Court. The State’s petition for a writ of certiorari should be granted, the decision of the Court of Appeals should be reversed and vacated, and Wright’s conviction should be affirmed.

Polling of the jury is sometimes—but not always—conducted after a verdict is announced at the conclusion of a trial, and its purpose is simply to help ensure the jury’s verdict is a unanimous one. Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 196, 569 S.E.2d 318, 324 (2002). Significantly, jury polling achieves that purpose by giving each of the members of the jury an opportunity to individually assent to the verdict, which typically—up to that point—has only been announced by someone like a foreperson or clerk on the jurors’ collective behalf. See Miranda v. United States, 255 F.2d 9, 17 (1st Cir. 1958) (explaining the purpose of jury polling “is to give each juror an opportunity, before the verdict is recorded, to declare in open court his assent to the verdict which the foreman has returned,” which enables the trial judge and the parties to ascertain with certainty a unanimous verdict free of inducement or coercion has been reached).

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