STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Berkeley County
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5782 (S.C. Ct. App. filed November 18, 2020)

2016-GS-08-00306

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

RANDY WRIGHT

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000146

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
Apr 05 2021
SC Court of Appeals

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

The court refused to poll the jury, although it had not yet been released. R. 489, ll. 9-17. “[T]he Clerk did ask them, is this your verdict, and each of the jurors raised their hand individually. They looked around and raised their hand individually, and that’s on the record. Your request is respectfully denied.” R. 489, ll. 10-15.

Randy Wright was sentenced to serve ten years' imprisonment. R. 504.

The Court of Appeals reversed, noting that while “[e]arly South Carolina cases permitted polling in the trial court’s discretion,” . . . “[t]he trial court’s discretion ended in *State v. Linder*, which held a poll must be taken if requested and implied each juror must be polled individually.” *State v. Wright*, 432 S.C. at 368, 852 S.E.2d at 470 (citing *Linder*, 276 S.C. at 309, 278 S.E.2d at 338).

The Court of Appeals recognized that the “right to poll the jury is not itself a constitutional right but a procedural protection of the defendant’s constitutional right to a unanimous verdict.” *Id.* at 369, 852 S.E.2d at 470 (citing *State v. Pare*, 755 A.2d 180, 188 (Conn. 2000)). The Court of Appeals explained the right to poll the jury also “safeguards the right to a public trial,” and “promotes finality and accountability of the verdict stage and enhances the integrity of the deliberative process by ensuring no juror was coerced in the jury room.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Kelly*, 372 S.C. 167, 170-71, 641 S.E.2d 468, 470 (Ct. App. 2007); *Humphries v. District of Columbia*, 174 U.S. 190, 194 (1899)).

The Court of Appeals concluded that “individual polling means each juror must be separately asked to confirm verbally in the record the verdict announced is still his or her verdict. We believe this person-by-person inquiry best advances the prime reason for individual polling: “to dispel any doubt a party might entertain as to the propriety of a jury verdict as rendered.” *Id.* (citing *Linder*, 276 S.C. at 309, 278 S.E.2d at 338).

The Court of Appeals further found this error to be one which was reversible *per se* and not subject to harmless error analysis, pursuant to *Weaver v. Massachusetts*, 139 S.Ct. 1899, 1908 (2017), which held an error was structural if: “(1) the right at issue is designed to protect an interest other than the defendant’s interest in being wrongly convicted; (2) the effects of the error

are ‘simply too hard to measure’; or (3) the error always results in fundamental unfairness.” *Wright*, 432 S.C. at 371, 852 S.E.2d at 471-72.

The Court of Appeals explained, “We believe the denial of the right to individual polling bears all three of these traits. The polling right protects not only the defendant from being wrongfully convicted but also the public’s interest in ensuring the outcome of the criminal trial process is reliable.” *Id.* at 371, 852 S.E.2d at 472. “Denial of the polling right also defies harmless error analysis . . . It would be an odd end to the matter to deem it harmless, for in effect we would be presuming the unanimity of the verdict while simultaneously denying the defendant the only real right he has to check beyond the presumption.” *Id.* “Finally, the denial of the polling right caused fundamental unfairness by undermining the systemic requirements of a fair and open judicial process.” *Id.* (internal alteration, quotations and citation omitted) (quoting *Weaver*, 137 S.Ct. at 1911).

Discussion

“Whether a poll of the jury will be conducted is discretionary with the trial judge unless a polling is requested. If the request is made, a poll must be taken.” *Linder*, 276 S.C. at 309, 278 S.E.2d at 338. “A trial judge must conduct a jury poll if requested by either party.” *Green v. State*, 351 S.C. 184, 196, 569 S.E.2d 318, 324 (2002) (citing *Linder*).

To constitute a poll, there must be an individual address of each juror. “To poll the jury means to examine each juror separately, after a verdict has been given, as to his concurrence in the verdict.” *State v. Sanders*, 251 S.C. at 436, 163 S.E.2d at 224 (internal quotations omitted) (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary, Fourth Edition). *See also Sanders v. Charleston Consol. Ry. & Lighting Co.*, 154 S.C. 220, 151 S.E. 438, 447 (1930) (“The rule in such matters is very clearly

stated in 16 C. J. 1098: ‘Polling the jury is a practice whereby the jurors are asked individually whether they assented and *still assent* to the verdict.’”) (emphasis in original).

Here, part and parcel with publication of the verdict, the clerk asked the jury if it would confirm the verdict by a show of hands. Despite the collective question to the jury, Respondent requested the jury be polled; he specified he was requesting an individual inquiry of each juror. The trial court denied the request. Based on this Court’s holding in *Linder*, that a poll must be taken when one is requested, the Court of Appeals correctly found error. *Linder*, 276 S.C. at 308-09, 278 S.E.2d at 338.

“[T]he right to poll the jury, although not constitutional, is nonetheless a substantial right.” *United States v. Randle*, 966 F.2d 1209, 1214 (7th Cir. 1992). “The right to poll the jury at the return of the verdict is a corollary to the defendant’s right to a unanimous verdict.” *State v. Behnke*, 456 N.W.2d 610, 612 (Wis. 1990). The object of a jury poll “is to ascertain for a certainty that each of the jurors approves of the verdict as returned; that no one has been coerced or induced to sign a verdict to which he does not fully assent.” *Humphries v. District of Columbia*, 174 U.S. at 194. “Courts have recognized that the chief purpose behind an individual poll of jurors is to enable a juror to express any reservation he may have about the verdict free from the pressure of his fellow jurors.” *State v. Tennant*, 319 S.E.2d 395, 399 (W.Va. 1984). “[M]embers of a group may react differently when addressed as a group, and when addressed individually.” *State v. Pare*, 755 A.2d at 193. “The right is one to have the conscience of each individual juror tested by an individualized question directed at him or her, not a question directed at any group of jurors in which individuals may find some degree of anonymity.” *Miles v. Commonwealth*, 256 S.W.3d 46 (Ky. Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Powell v. Commonwealth*, 346 S.W.2d 731, 733 n. 1. (Ky. Ct. App. 1961)).

The State argues that the clerk's question and jury's raised hands "unquestionably" constituted an individual poll. *See* State's Petition for Certiorari at 14. However, since the jurors were not individually addressed, they were not invited to express any reservations free from the pressure of the other jurors. In fact, the record reflects the jurors looked around at each other when jointly addressed by the clerk. R. 489, ll. 12-13. A fair reading of this record shows the jurors here were addressed jointly rather than severally.

State v. Singleton, 319 S.C. 312, 460 S.E.2d 573 (1995), recited the typical form a jury poll takes in this state. In *Singleton*, the jury poll was found to be proper where the clerk asked jurors individually, "[CLERK]: [Juror], was this your verdict? [JUROR]: Yes. [CLERK]: Is it still your verdict? [JUROR]: No." *Id.* at 315-17, 460 S.E.2d at 575-76. Similarly, in *Sanders v. Charleston Consol. Ry. & Lighting Co.*, 154 S.C. 220, 151 S.E. at 446,

counsel for the plaintiff preferred a request that the jury be polled, which was granted. To each juror the clerk propounded the question as to his assent to the verdict as announced; all expressed their assent except the juror W. M. Mitchell, Jr. The transcript shows that when he was asked the question, "Is this your verdict?" "*he replied that it was not his verdict.*" His honor then proceeded to interrogate the juror as to what he meant by saying that that was not his verdict, and had him sworn to undergo a further examination.

(emphasis in original). Both of these cases reflect that the poll was performed in a manner that provided an opportunity for each juror to voice dissent when separately addressed as to his verdict.

In its petition for certiorari, the State argues that the Court of Appeals improperly "adopted an entirely new rule of criminal procedure for jury polling." *See* State's Petition for Certiorari at 10. This argument is unsound. By the State's reasoning, this Court would have apparently engaged in illicit rule-making, for example, in *State v. Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 410,

709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011), when it held that immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act was to be determined pre-trial and that the defendant had the burden to prove immunity by a preponderance of the evidence. This Court would have engaged in illegitimately expansive rule-making in *State v. Colf*, 337 S.C. 622, 627, 525 S.E.2d 246, 248 (2000), when it articulated the five-factor balancing test that must be conducted by the trial court when determining whether to admit remote convictions under Rule 609(b), SCRE. Likewise, this Court would have engaged in prohibited rule-making in *Franklin v. Maynard*, 356 S.C. 276, 279, 588 S.E.2d 604, 606 (2003), when it held a pre-trial hearing must be convened on mental retardation in death penalty cases when requested by a party, and that the defendant has the burden of proving mental retardation by a preponderance of the evidence.

However, in those cases, as in this case, the appellate courts of this state did not create new rules of criminal procedure but instead properly exercised their authority to correct errors of law and ensure that parties' rights are protected. While jury polling is a matter which certainly could be addressed by the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure, an appellate court is not prohibited from deciding this issue simply because it was not addressed there. The Court of Appeals did not establish a new rule of procedure and instead merely explained how a trial court should safeguard a defendant's rights in this context. As the Court of Appeals observed, the right to poll the jury is a "procedural protection of the defendant's constitutional right to a unanimous verdict." *Wright*, 432 S.C. at 369, 852 S.E.2d at 470 (citing *Pare*, 755 A.2d at 188). "It also safeguards the right to a public trial." *Id.* (citing *Kelly*, 372 S.C. at 170-71, 641 S.E.2d at 470).

The Court of Appeals correctly found the error here required reversal. "[D]epriving a defendant of his or her polling right is not a technicality, but a material and prejudicial error."

Wright, 432 S.C. at 372, 852 S.E.2d at 472. “The individual poll is the best chance the trial court and the parties have to ensure the sanctity and unanimity of the verdict.” *Id.*

When an error is structural, it means “that the government is not entitled to deprive the defendant of a new trial by showing that the error was ‘harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.’” *Weaver v. Massachusetts*, 137 S. Ct. at 1910 (citing *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967)). “Thus, in the case of a structural error where there is an objection at trial and the issue is raised on direct appeal, the defendant generally is entitled to ‘automatic reversal’ regardless of the error’s actual ‘effect on the outcome.’” *Id.* (quoting *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 7 (1999)). There are three rationales for why an error is deemed structural and thus, not susceptible to harmless error analysis. “First, an error has been deemed structural in some instances if the right at issue is not designed to protect the defendant from erroneous conviction but instead protects some other interest.” *Weaver*, 137 S. Ct. at 1908. “Second, an error has been deemed structural if the effects of the error are simply too hard to measure.” *Id.* “Third, an error has been deemed structural if the error always results in fundamental unfairness.” *Id.*

The Court of Appeals applied *Weaver* here, finding “the denial of the right to individual polling bears all three of these traits. The polling right protects not only the defendant from being wrongfully convicted but also the public’s interest in ensuring the outcome of the criminal trial process is reliable.” *Wright*, 432 S.C. at 371, 852 S.E.2d at 472. “Denial of the polling right also defies harmless error analysis . . . It would be an odd end to the matter to deem it harmless, for in effect we would be presuming the unanimity of the verdict while simultaneously denying the defendant the only real right he has to check beyond the presumption.” *Id.* “Finally, the denial of the polling right caused fundamental unfairness by undermining the systemic requirements of a

fair and open judicial process.” *Id.* (internal alteration, quotations and citation omitted) (quoting *Weaver*, 137 S.Ct. at 1911).

Another jurisdiction confronting this same issue has held as the Court of Appeals did. *State v. Pare*, 755 A.2d 180, is analogous to this case. Connecticut had a state practice rule similar to South Carolina’s mandate in *Linder* that if a request is made, a poll must be taken. *Id.* at 182. In *Pare*, the court asked the jury collectively about the verdict, and the jury collectively responded that the verdict was unanimous. *Id.* at 184-85. Pare’s defense counsel requested that the jurors be polled, but the court refused: “I was looking right at the jury, they all nodded and answered yes to my questions, so I’ll deny your request.” *Id.* at 186. The Connecticut Supreme Court found the trial court’s failure to conduct a poll was “not subject to harmless error analysis but, rather, requires automatic reversal of the defendant’s conviction,” because there is no way to ascertain the effects of a poll not taken. *Id.* at 194.

The weight of authority from other states also finds reversible error results from the failure to conduct a mandatory poll. “The right to a poll of the jury is a material right derived from the common law. In criminal cases the right to poll the jury is not discretionary, and the denial of that right when timely requested is reversible error.” *Rinker v. State*, 492 S.E.2d 746, 747 (Ga. App. 1997) (internal alternations omitted). “[T]he denial of one’s right to poll the jury dictates that a new trial be awarded.” *Commonwealth v. Downey*, 732 A.2d 593, 595 (Pa. 1999). *State v. Behnke*, 456 N.W.2d at 614 (failure to poll jury without the defendant’s knowing, voluntary, and unequivocal waiver is grounds for automatic reversal: “Prejudice is presumed.”); *State v. Pockert*, 746 P.2d 839, 841 (Wash. App. 1987) (failure to poll jury upon defendant’s request is reversible error, even absent any showing of prejudice).

In its petition for certiorari, the State does not refute the Court of Appeals' analysis and finding of structural error. Instead the State claims that *State v. Singleton*, 319 S.C. 312, 460 S.E.2d 573 (1995) and *Green v. State*, 351 S.C. 184, 569 S.E.2d 318 (2002), support its position that this error is subject to harmless error analysis. See State's Petition for Certiorari at 18 – 19. However, a closer look at these cases reveals they do not support such a position. In *Singleton*, the jurors *were* individually polled, and one juror answered “No,” to the question, “Is it still your verdict?” *Singleton*, 319 S.C. at 315, 460 S.E.2d at 575. This Court addressed Singleton's claim that the trial judge intimidated the juror by asking follow-up questions and found Singleton “failed to establish that the judge's comments during the supplemental instruction were coercive.” *Id.* at 316, 460 S.E.2d at 576. Importantly, Singleton, unlike Respondent Wright, was not altogether denied an individual poll. It was the denial of an individual poll here which the Court of Appeals found to be reversible error *per se*.

In *Green v. State*, 351 S.C. at 188-91, 569 S.E.2d at 320-22, which was an appeal from the denial of post-conviction relief (PCR), Green's counsel did not request a poll of the jury after it returned a guilty verdict. This Court explained, “Trial counsel had no affirmative duty to request the trial judge poll the jury.” *Id.* at 196, 569 S.E.2d at 324. This Court noted that Green *conceded* he could not establish *Strickland*¹ prejudice for the purposes of prevailing on PCR. *Id.* Neither *Green* nor *Singleton* support the State's argument.

Respondent Wright requested an individual poll and one was not taken. This Court should deny certiorari. *Linder*, 276 S.C. at 309, 278 S.E.2d at 338; *Weaver*, 137 S. Ct. at 1908.

¹ *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny the State's petition for certiorari.